THE OLD

DAVIE SCHOOL

BIRTH AND REBIRTH
OF A BROWARD LANDMARK

The realization by a community
that its older buildings are his
foric and o meaningful part of
ifs exisbence iz a reflection of o
community’s change in how it
pereeives iself, With the recog-
nition that older buildings may
e worthy of preservation, a
cortmuanity i focdfly admiliing
that it has o history significant
to its future.

Wilderness to Metropolis!

E:." ite decigion Lo uctiwly pursue the
preservation and restoration af the Old
Davie School, the Town of Davie may
be evidencing its maturity as a com:
munity. The Davie School has an
abundance of claims to historical
gignificance. It was the first perma:
nent school in the Everglades and is
the oldest existing school building in
conlinuous use in Broward County.? In
addition, the building was designed by
Auvgust Geiger, one of Miami's most
proeminent architects of the day. Many
of Geiger's buildings still stand in
Miami and throughout Dade County,
Imcluded are the Miami Women's Clab,
Miami City Hospital (the "Alamo™,
Miami Beach High School, the Miami
Beach Community Center, The Carl
Fisher residence, and the Homestead
Public Schoel. Geiger also served as
asgociate architect on the 1925 Dade
County Courthouse. Among these
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hui.l.dinma, the Miami Women's {:!uh,
Miami City Hospital, and the Home-
stead Public School are listed on the
MNational Register of Historic Places ®
In Broward County Geiger also
designed the Dania School (1913), the
Hallandale Sehool (1915}, and the Fort
Lauderdale High School (191554 Only
the Davie School (1917-18) still stands
in Broward. Mr. Geiger designed
numergus school buildings throughout
Dade County as architect for the Dade
County School Board and was a rec
ognized authority on school design. In
hiz “Model School Plan for Tropic

Florida,"” he stressed the importance of
large areas of windows for sunlight
and cross-ventilation, and concrede
construction for more equable temper-
atures and for fireproofing® All of
these features were incorporated into
the Davie School olan.

The Davie School 158 a two story,
masonry vernacular structore built in
1917-18 which, with its blended Span.
ish and Moorish architectural styles,
clearly reflects the inclination of
architects of the day to borrow details
and flourishes from exotic locales.
Thoeugh its eriginal appearance was

Biee CoRrrArLEL

As the first Florida town buill on reclaimed Everglades muckland and
as Broward County's only substantial settlement west of the coastal ridge
for nearly four decades, Davie has a particalarly rich and unigue history.,
Unfortunately, relatively few structures testify to that illustrions past.
Because of the settlement’s remoteness and the population's prescoupation
ewith wresting & lving from the soil, many of Davie’s early buildings were
sndistinguished and impermanent. A notable exception is the Davie School,
Completed in 1818, this well-designed and solidly built structure not only
served the educational needs of Devie and the surrounding farmlands, but
provided a venue for local entertainment and social and political gatherings.
Az a resull, the school became both the practical and symbolic center of

Awthor Hillie K. Cole, a nefive of Dacvie and former student of the Davie
School, presents the history of the struciure from ifs inceplion fo current
restoration efforts, and shetehes the background of Everglades drainage,
agricalture, and changing demographic patterns which have shaped the
sehool’s seven decades of existence. Mrs, Cole holds a B A, in kistory from
Florida Atlantic University, and currently teaches that subject in the
Broward County school system. Long interested in local history, she is
a member of the Davie School Foundation.
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changed slightly by the 1926 hurricane
and by more modern additions in the
18608, the building remains “one of the
least altered elementary school build-
ings in South Florida,"® But beyond
these abvious honors, the Davie Schoal
has a broader claim on history, It is
a rare early landmark of Broward
County's westward development, a
monument to the last vestiges of
pioneering in the United States, and
a aymbol of early twentieth century
progressivism in Florida.

The Town of Davie has its roots in
Napoleon Bonaparte Broward's mas-
give plan to driin the Everglades and
open the area to farming, Progressive
polities, an oatgrowth of the populist
movements of the late 1800z and a
reaction against the ultraconservative
Bourbon Democrata who had con-
trolled Florida and other ssuthern
state governments since the end of
Reconstruction, had been slowly gain-
ing ground for years when Broward,
a leading progressive Democrat, was
elected Governor of Florida in 1904,
Progressives, who received the balk of
their support from farmers, small
businessmen, and professional groups,
sought to liberalize state government
by involving it more closely in the
regulation of large corporate interésis
(specifically the railroads), and in the
expanded provision of public services
to private citizens, In most respects the
progressive reform agenda in Florida
was similar to that in other states, Tied
to the Florida issues, however, was the

conteoversy surrounding the owners
ghip and development rights to the
state's vast wetllands, including the
Everglades.’

The idea of Everglades drainage and
development was nothing new. Inter-
eat in such a project had been recorded
as early as 1848, Legizlation passed in
1851 and 1855 established the Internal
Improvement Fund (IIF).* Governed
by a beard of trustees consisting of the
governor, controller, treasurer, attor
ney general, and registrar of state
lands, its job was to administer the
stute program of wetlands reclamation
and development, via privale sector
financing, by deeding large grants of
the wetlanda to railroad and canal
companies. In furn, these companies
would be responsible for drainage,
improvement, and ultimately
settlement.®

By the end of Governor William [
Bloxham's second term of office in
1901, it had become obvious that
something had gone awry with this
plan. It was discovered that the state
had granted to the railroad and canal
interests some 000,000 acres more
than the approximately 20,000,000 it
possessed. ! Amid threats and court
battles that continwed throughout his
term of office, William 5. Jennings, the
new progressive-backed governor
elected in 1900, decided to return to the
provisions of the original 1855 charter,
1o reclaim the wetlands for the state,
and begin efforts to deain and develop
them for public use amd at public

Below is the Davie School as it appeared shortly after its 1918
completion. Note barrel-tile roof, awning projection, and wood louvers
beneath first Moor windows, all omitted in remodeling which followed
the 1926 hurricane (photo eourtesy of Davie Sehool Foundation, Ine.).
At right is architect August Geiger (photo courtesy of Fort Lauderdale

Historical Society).

expense. ! Thus it was with Jennings,
not Broward, that serious efforts in
thiz direction actually began. It is
likely, in fact, that Broward, who
seemed enly vaguely interested in the
wetlands reclamation issue at the
beginning of his campaign, became its
most vocal spokesman mainly in order
to deaw a clearer contrast in the
vaguely defined issue differences
between himself and Robert W. Davis,
his chief opponent in the Democratic
primary of 1904, Whatever his rea-
son, it is apparent that Broward, in his
campaign to convinee Floridians of the
value of Everglades reclamation, alse
convinced himself. He became almost
obaeagively invelved in its promotion
and remained so until his death in
1910,

Broward's progressive agenda
extended well beyond the issue of
reclamation, however. He championed
such issues as improved education,
higher teacher pay, compulsory school
pitendance and uniferm school pules,
restrictions on child labor, develop-
ment of tourism, and support for
organized labor.13 The Broward Era in
Florida history was clearly character-
ized by legislation that fransformed
the role and nature of state govern-
ment. Florida's government became
stronger, committed itself to the pro-
vigion of much-needed public services,
eapecially education, and made signif-
icant strides toward more effective
state regulation of large business and
corporate activities,
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It is as a direct result of Mapoleon
B. Brownard's governorship and Brow-
ard Era progressive thought and
politics that what is now Broward
County was given the opportunity to
expand and urbanize through the
reclamation of the overflowed lands
which easily comprised most of iis
area. And it is as a result of that
expansion and reclamation that what
is now the Town of Davie came into
existence,

Early in June 1906, Governor Brow-
ard came to Fort Lavderdale to launch
the first of many planned dredges, The
dipper dredge Fverglades was to move
wieatward out of the Mew River, cutting
a swath through the sawgrass and
creating dry land as it moved toward
Lake Okeechobee to complete the first
lake-to-ocean drainage canal through
the Everglades, the Morth Mew River
Canal. In April 1907, a second dredge,
the Mkeechobes, was launched amd
began work on the South Mew River
Canal." Progress on the canals was
glower and more expensive than
expected, but by the summer of 1908
the land southwest of Fort Lauderdale
had dried to the point that B, P. Davie,
a speculmtor and developer from Colo-

el L e |
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rade Springs, agreed to o contract with
the Internal Improvement Fund to
purchase some 27500 acres of the
dredged and drained land. Under the
terms of the conteact, Mr. Davie was
to establish an experimental demon-
atration farm on the property and dig,
at hiz own expense, a nnﬂ;hfmus'j
drainage ditch and dyke to connect
with the South New River Canal !5 It
wns this experimental tract of land,
intended to show the limitless possi-
bilities of Everglades muck sodl, that
came o be Enown as the “Davie
Farm." Mr. Davie, along with J. K.
MeKinnie and several other pariners,
then organized the Everglades Sugar
and Land Company and in February
1909 the Everglades Land Company,
which, with its various subsidiaries,
held, ﬂcwlupﬂd, and sold most of the
land in and around Davie for the next
several years, '8

An advertisement of the Everglades
Land Sales Company, appeasing in a
September 19049 apecial edition of The
Miemi Metropalia, offered for sale
“The finest deep muck soil” and “the
best of the best soil in the world. . "
This and similar ads drew responses
from people all over the United States

:; Iaﬂl: is an IFvHE:EdH:ILa“dI:lS“!i“ Company
NEw ENGRANS NATRINA v it B vertisement for reclaimed muckland in the Davie
n-..udﬂ’ﬂ'r"fr':’: "'r”m“'" s e -t area. Above, Davie's first achool building can be

seen in the background of this photo of the
community’'s World War 1 Home Guard (photo
eourtesy of Davie Historieal Society).

and many parts of the world, including
Russia, Canada, and the Panama
Canal Zone, who then bought ten acre
teacts of land from the company, It was
the early seitlera feom the canal zone
who gave the little settlement its first
name of Zona.'®

Im 1912 Willinm Hammer of Alberta,
Canada, learned of the new farm land
being offered for sale in Florida. He
made three trips to Zona Lo investigate,
His daughter, NWorma Hammer Albury,
recalls that:

He came back each Hime with more

glowing accowrts amd descripiions

of the place, He brought back coffes

cans full of muck, grapefruait fwhick

we children thought was horeible),

seashells, a stuffed alligator, maps,

mictares, and falk, talk, talk.®
Then as now the lure of tropical Florida
was strong, and William Hammer
finally decided to make the move. He
arrived in Zona with his wife and
tleven childreen in Januery 19133
Alrendy there were the Griffins, Hills,
Formans, Aunapus, Lowes, Earles,
and o few other families who ecom.
prised the small settlement of about
200020

In spite of the glowing reports of the
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wondrous productivity of the Ewer-
glades muck soil, life in Zona was
extremely diffieult for the settlers, who
had to deal with foods, CTop Tatlures,
and Muctuating markets, in addition
to insects, snakes, and generally
primitive living conditions. Still, the
little community was not duwn
trodden and showed surprising con-
cern for the finer points of life, such
ns culture and education. The A, B,
Lowe family, for instance, was typical,
They may have lived in a tent; but they
owned a plano. ™ More importantly, the
setilers had already managed to estab-
lish a school. The previous Febroary
(1912}, Dale Miller, an officer of the
Everglades Land Sales Company, had
escorted members of the Dade County
Schoo]l Board to Zona o show them
the large number of school age children
there and to convines them of the need
for a school.® Fona residents were so
insistent that the Dade officials agreed
to provide the land, a teacher, and
building materials if the residents
would agree to baild the school them-
selves ™ The resalt was a two-room
wooden schoalhouse which opened on
April 1, 1912, under schoolmaster
Milton Geere.? This building served
the community for about six years,

On Oetober 1, 1915, Broward County
was officially ereated from parts of
northern Dade and southern Palm
Beach counties. The Broward County
Board of Publie Instrection was
formed to handle all school business,
with J. M. Holding as the county's first
superintendent of instruction, ™

In 1916, in spite of the sporadic (at
best) nature of the state drainage
program, Davie was a thriving com-
munity of some 100 families. The town
boasted a Davie Telephone Company

(with thirty-two subscribers), a Davie
Board of Trade, an Everglades Grow-
ers Association, and even an Ewer-
glades County Club.” The town name
had been officially changed to Davie
in 1814.2 The small, two-room school
building had been outgrown, and a new
one was requested from the Broward
County Board of Public Instruction.

On January 2, 1917, the Board of
Public Instruction acce plans and
specifications from architect Clarence
Wait for the new Davie school building,
The plans were approved and ordered
advertiged for bhids with work to be
commenced not earlier than March 15,
1917, and completed not later than
August 15, 19172 As of February 6,
however, board minutes indicate that
only one bid had been received (from
Fleming Pitzer), and that it had been
withdrawn.® Meanwhile, on January
10, 1917, the Board had purchased four
acres of land from the Everglades
Land Sales Company to enlarge and
square up the old one-acre site
Finally, on April 3, 1817, the Board
instructed Superintendent Holding to
confer with August Geiger and request
plans and specifications for a school
building. ™ These Mr. Geiger presented
on June 1, 1917, The plans were
approved and ordered advertised for
bids.3* This time two bids were
receivied, The first was submitted by
J. F. Woolworth for 519,728 and the
second by W, E, Martin for $12 424, Mr.
Martin’s bid was sccepted, and a
building contract was ordered drawn
onJune 12, 19173 A June 15,1917 Fort
Lauderdale Sentinel article reported
the awarding of the contract and
described the plans for the new
building.

The lower floor wall contain four

l!'l "'\-.l.'.u_

After completing elementary grades at the Davie School, students
traveled to Fort Lauderdale in this bus driven by one of their clasasmates,

Maitland Hill,

classrooms each 20 feet by 30 feet,
a corridar § feel wide through the
cemder of the building and todles,
halliway and stairs to the rear.

The second floor contains an gud-
itarism 41 by 70 feet, wheeh will be
capabile of seating 500 peaple; a
principal’s office, a teacher's rest-
room and hrary and hell Y

The article continues on to praoss Mr.
Geiger's plans for incorporating all of
the benuty of the old with the most
modern advances in ventilating and
lighting. Finally, on May 10, 1918, the
school was dedicated with a full dose
of the patristic pomp and fanfare so
representative uﬁhe ern. There was o
recitation of James Whitcomb Riley's
“Old Glory,” “Keep the Home Fires
Burning™ was sung, and the studenis
performed a flag drll. Future Super-
intendent of Public Instruction James
3. Rickards gave a patriotic address
in which he compared the fine poinis
of architeeture in the new building te
the desired points of character to be
developed in the schools. In his best
patriotic style, My, Rickards informed
the crowd that:

The resuelés of proper education is
the developing of a charecier
charged with idealism, ond dhe
American youth, filled with his
ideals and inspired by his sense of
fairness, is feared by tyrants lile the
German Kaiser more than ke fears
the belehing cannon,

Davie School teachers and stu-
dents, 1918-1820.

Summer/Fall 1981 — 5



O August 19, 1918, the Davie School
opened a little less fAlambovantly for
its first full vear of imatruction.®
Althea Jenne was the first principal
of the school, appointed by the Board
of Public Instruction at & salary of
75,00 per month.® Mrs, Jenne con-
tinued on at Davie School in the
capacity of principal or teacher for
gome thirty vears. Helen Parker and
Alma Grant received monthly salaries
af 56500 and $60.00 respectively to
teach the seventy students enrolled. ™

The new achool buoilding soon
became the virtual center of commun-
ity life in Dawvie. It was quite an
impressive structure for a tiny farming
village perched on the edge of the
wilderness, and the people of Davie
were justifinbly proud of it. Every kind
of sectal and civie activity took place
in the lange upu-tn:'n muditorium. There
were dances and “box suppers” almost
every week. School holiday programs
and community plavs of every descrip-
tion were also commeon. The social
functions at the school were regularly
attended not only by Davie people but
by visitors from Fort Lauderdale and
Danis as well. Davie gained & repu-
tation for knowing how to have & good
time, The Forl Lacderdale Sentinel
saw fit to publish the entire program
of the 1922 Christmas Day celebration
given by the Davie Sunday School in
the school auditorium, * In 1921 the
achool was put to perhaps its most
unusual use when the new principal,
A J. Albertson, received permission
from the school trustees and the Board
of Public Instruction to live in one of
the classrooms, as he was unable to
find adequate housing in the area.”
Just how long Mr. Albertson remained
a resident in the school is unclear, but
it appears to have been o peried of
geveral months at least. Political
rallies and elections were held in the
gchool building as well, In 1925 forty-
cight residents met in the avditorium
te initiate incorporation of the town
and elect the firat mayvor 4 During the
1947 flood the second floor of the school
wna ane of the few spots in towmn,
and many took shelter there. The
school hﬂdmg was routinely used as
a hurricane shelter. Alice Woodward,
principal of Davie School from 19345
86, expressed that “the school was
simply the center of everything the
peaple undertaak, ™2

The Davie School maintained its
central role in the comemunity for
peveral decades. As Davie grew and
changed, accompanying changes
oecarred at the school. In 1923 the
Broward County Board of Public
Instruction ap the installation
of electric lights at o cost of $750,00,4
In 1926 the hurricane of September 17-
18 was the source of the first physical
alterations to the school. As a resalt

Davie Eirla and I:ru'_l.ri haskethall teams in front of the m:hnnl, 1928 (photo
courtesy of Davie School Foundation, Inc.).

of damage by the storm, the building
was remodeled without its mission-
tiled roof and wood louvers beneath the
first story windows.** On July 5, 1927,
the beard approved, at the anxious
insistence of school trustee Mrs,
Charles Stoddard, the installation of
wooden window awnings as profection
against further storm damage.® Con-
sidering Davie's location on the edge
of the Everglades, its tendency to flood,
and the freguent use of the school as
a shelter, storm protection was a vital
consideration.,

Im the late 19408, in order to accom-
modate growing enrollment, the
upstnits auditorium was converted
into four additionn] classreoms, and
a separate cafeteria was built east of
the old building. In 1854 two new class-
roomas were built in feont of the original
building and connected to it by a
covered breezeway. It was at this time
that the nnmna]ﬂaimmh-aw le arched
doorway was replaced with a broader,
rectangular opening, probably the
only truly destructive change the
h'u.i.alinir has endured sinee the 1996
hurricane, Finally, in 1559, an adrmin-
istrotive wing, new cafetorium, and six
additional classrooms were con-
structed between the old school and
Griffin RHoad, greatly obacuring the
original structure from view. 47

After the mid-"50s the school's fune-
tion as a community center began to
decrease as Davie's population grew
and became more diverse. Neverthe
less, schooel and holiday programs were
still numerous and widely attended
and continued to be g0 throughout the
building's use as a school. In 1977 &
new Davie Elementary School was

built to accommodate the rapidly
growing Davie population.®® The old
gite was renamed riffin Elementary
HBchool and continued in use ns a schoal
until 1980, Since that time it has been
occupied by the South Area Offices of
the Broward County School Board,
This use was never meant to be per-
manent. When the School Board has
completed its planned central offices,
the old buildings will be vacated.
Intil 1983 the fate of the old school
was uncertain at best. In 1977 there
was talk of using the facility as a
terminal and maintenanes center for
school buses, The Town of Davie also
considered acquiring the building and
converting it into a town hall.®
Meither of these plans came to fruition.
Finally, in 1983, tomist Inter
national of Davie identified the nequi-
gition, preservation, and restoration of
Old Davie School as & community
roject. Inm 1984 the Davie School
sundation, Ine., was created to work
with the Town of Duvie to achieve this
end. The process has been a long and
difficult ane, but iz beginning to
produce exciting results. On March 29,
1988, the historical significance of the
0Old Davie School was officially recog-
nized with its placement on the
Natienal Hegister of Historie Places.
In June of that year the Broward
County School Board declared the Old
Davie School “surplus property” and
in July transferred ownership to the
Town of Davie™ The project was
glated to receive 3422162 in preserva-
tion funds in 19%) which will accomp-
lish major restoration work. Total neq:]
for restoration is estimated at approg-
mately £1,000,000. The building will be
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Davie School Foundation bro-
chure promoting restoration,
1880-1991,

returned o its appearance in the late
1920 (after the 1926 hurricane).

Plans for the school's use imclude
regtoring the upstairs auditorivm as
home for historie exhibits, civie activ
ities, public forums, and artisan work-
shops, The four original downstairs
classrooms will provide a museum of
liseal hi.:i.[-:lr_:.-'.. Eivie |!||.u~|’.‘li.|:'|.i,' FiME,
archives, educational programs, and a
restored classroom of the period to be
uzed as a “hands-on” learning center
for Broward County school children.®

In an area plagued by the wholezale
destraction of its historical and culiur-
al legacy, the story of Davie Schaol
provides a glimmer of hope, Though
development iz usuwally seen as the
culprit in the loss of historic buildings,
it iz also often the very thing that
finally sparks the attention of people
teo busy te otherwise notice or care
much about the destruction of one maore
ald buoilding. Yet that is exactly how
they are lost — one by one. For sixty
yvears the Davie School sat in a sleepy
little “cow town", unnoticed by anvone
but the pesple of Davie, many of whom
not only attended school there but
watched their children and grand-
children do the same. They loved the
old building; it was a part of the very
fabric of their lives. 54ill, no one
thought much about restoration until
the boom-type development inm the
Davie area, coupled with the building®s
soon-tobe “surplus” status threatened
its existence. It was this threat that
gparked Dawvie people to begin the
process of trying to save their school,
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and it was this process that brought
into focus the wonderful significance
of the old building, both in its origins
and itg sentimental value to Davie, It
is once again becoming a commen
ground for the citizens of Davie to
claim and an important focal point for
Diavie in its thirty year struggle, amid
rapid and often troumatic growth, to
find an expression of its true identity
as o community,
Inlightof what the Old Davie School
i once agein coming to mean to the
town of Davie, the words of Colonel
C. A. Walsh, when he officially
accepted the mew Davie School build-
ing on behalf of the citizens of Davie
in May 1913, take on peal meaning:
We accept and thank you for this
splendid building, a building no
muardter how large and important
this community may grow, will ever
B Phe conler of its sociad action and
the main cause of any progress we
muaxy mrake. The eifizens of Davre
will fnlre pride (n d, will mainiein
i and cherish 5%
It looks as though Davie intends to
keep its promise.
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